Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-17-2013

Carr v. Pridgen Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40883

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is the appeal of judgment of contempt entered against Appellant, Crystal Edgar ("Crystal")¹ for two alleged violations of a Parenting Plan by and between Crystal and Bradley Carr ("Bradley") regarding the duties of parenting their child ("D.C."). On one count, the magistrate court adjudged Crystal guilty of contempt for violating the Parenting Plan by unreasonably refusing Bradley's non-specific request to have D.C. travel to Mississippi with Bradley's wife because the magistrate court found that Crystal denied the request before learning specifics. On the other count, the magistrate court adjudged Crystal guilty of contempt for enrolling D.C. in a particular school even though, prior to the start date of school, Bradley ratified that action by consenting to allow D.C. to attend that school. Crystal appeals both judgments of contempt on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence to prove the charges made, the magistrate court did not have jurisdiction to enter the judgment entered, and that Crystal was denied the opportunity to present a defense.

B. Course of Proceeding Below.

Crystal was charged with and found guilty of contempt for two alleged violations of the Parenting Plan between her and Bradley. Crystal appealed the adverse decisions of the magistrate court, the Honorable Terry R. McDaniels presiding, to the district court, the Honorable Kathryn A. Sticklen presiding. The district court denied Crystal's request for relief. Crystal now appeals from the decision of the district court.

¹ Because the transcript and the Judgment of Contempt referred to the parties by their first names, for the sake of consistency, first names will be used in this brief. No disrespect is intended by this naming convention.

C. Concise Statement of Facts.

1. Facts related to out of state travel

Bradley Carr and Crystal Edgar f/k/a Pridgen are parents of D.C., a minor child, and both are members of the Idaho National Guard. On or about August 4, 2011, Bradley brought a motion for contempt against Crystal on the grounds that Crystal violated paragraph 15 of their Parenting Plan. R. 000125-126. Paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan provides: "We shall not remove our child/ren from the state of Idaho without advance agreement of both of us. We shall include the date we shall return our child/ren to Idaho in our written agreement." R. 000043. In the Charging Affidavit, Bradley alleged that he had made arrangements for D.C. to travel to Mississippi with Bradley's wife and that Crystal unreasonably denied permission. R. 000126.

During the trial of the matter, Bradley testified that his wife's travel arrangements were to drive to Mississippi with her other children. Tr. 44:15-17; 45:3-19. Bradley made the request for out of state travel two days prior to the family's planned departure. Tr. 45:6-13; 29:24-30:5. When made, the request did not contain any specific information about the duration of the trip or Bradley's four-day pass window. Tr. 33:10-16; 45:3-46:1; 88:22-89:9. Crystal testified she was unwilling to allow D.C. to travel to Mississippi with Bradley's wife by car because she was concerned about how long D.C. would be gone, concerned about D.C. missing school, and concerned about interstate custody issues. Tr. 9:19-11:6. Though it was not pled in the Charging Affidavit, in order to counter Crystal's legitimate explanations, Bradley testified that he had also considered making alternate arrangements to have D.C. fly to Mississippi, by himself, where he would meet up with the rest of the family. Tr. 44:16-17.; Tr. 45:3-5. Bradley did not testify that he made any attempt to make these alternate plans known to Crystal. See, generally, Tr.

The magistrate court found that Bradley's testimony proved that Bradley's plan was for D.C. to travel, by himself, on a plane, to meet up with the rest of the family. Tr. 102:13-17. The magistrate court found that Crystal unreasonably denied Bradley's request for D.C. to travel out of state before learning specifics regarding the visitation. Tr. 100:14-19. When issuing the judgment, the magistrate judge called Crystal "despicable" (Tr. 101:19-21), told her she should be ashamed of herself (Tr. 102:1-3), refused to allow her to present any mitigating evidence (Tr. 93:17-22; 102:18-20; 103:10-22), told her that he was a "navy brat" and that she "got the wrong [judge]," (Tr. 107:15-108:8) and then sentenced her to three days in jail, to be served immediately (Tr. 107:7-14).

Crystal served three days in jail and, on November 28, 2011, entered a notice of appeal. R. 000154-155. On December 12, 2012, the magistrate court entered a judgment of contempt explaining his prior decision. R. 000157-165. In the judgment of contempt, the magistrate judge changed his previous finding and now found that Bradley's wife drove to Mississippi only because Crystal had previously summarily denied Bradley's request and the family was attempting to save money. R. 000160. The magistrate court also found that Crystal denied Bradley's request for travel even though she knew the exact parameters and duration of any possible visit that might occur. R. 000161. The magistrate court then observed a potential conflict between the Parenting Plan and a "Supplemental Order," (R. 000159-160) and resolved that conflict by looking to a third order entered in the case (R. 000162-163). After reconciling these three different orders, the magistrate court concluded that the parties had an "intent to facilitate as much as possible each parent's access to D.C. before any military deployment" and that Crystal's failure to facilitate that visitation was a breach of "her implied good faith and fair

dealing [and] also breached any interpretation of common decency by not facilitating a son's possible last visit with his father." R. 000163.

2. Facts related to school enrollment

Bradley and Crystal spent the summer of 2010 disagreeing as to which school D.C. should attend the following fall. Bradley wished for D.C. to attend Grace Jordan, and D.C. was placed on a waiting list at that school. Crystal wished for D.C. to attend Pepper Ridge. The parties mediated the dispute, and the mediation was unsuccessful. Tr. 19:14-20:5. Bradley turned the matter over to his attorney. Tr. 52:4-9.

Sometime in August of 2010, Crystal learned that D.C. had not been taken off the waiting list at Grace Jordon (Tr. 11:13-23) and enrolled D.C. in Pepper Ridge Tr. 11:7-12:23. Crystal had her attorney draft a letter advising Bradley of these facts. Tr. 11:24-12:3; Trial Exhibit C. Crystal's attorney continued to work with Bradley's attorney to reach an agreement regarding which school D.C. would attend. Trial Exhibit B; Tr. 84:8-87:9. Bradley's attorney represented to Crystal's attorney that the matter had been resolved. Tr. 86:11-87:10. Bradley claims he did not object to D.C. attending Pepper Ridge at that time because he was too busy preparing for deployment and he did not want his wife to have to be involved with the legal issues. Tr. 36:11-24. Bradley did not voice any objection to D.C. attending Pepper Ridge on or after August 18, 2010. Tr. 18:10-19:8. When school started, D.C. attended Pepper Ridge. When Bradley had custody of D.C., he dropped him off at the school and picked him up without protest or objection. Tr. 49:22-50:13.

Upon returning from deployment Bradley charged Crystal of contempt for violating paragraph 8 of the Parenting Plan by enrolling D.C. in Pepper Ridge without his consent and over his protests. R. 000125-000126. Paragraph 9 of the parties' Parenting Plan provides that

"Major decisions about our child/ren's education (such as which school they will attend) will be made by Both Parents." R. 000041. The magistrate court admonished Crystal to not try to work things out through counsel but, before taking preliminary steps that are not pre-approved by Bradley, the proper course is to seek judicial intervention. Tr. 65:4-23; Tr. 28:7-12. Despite the fact that Bradley subsequently ratified Crystal's actions by agreeing to allow the child to attend Pepper Ridge, the magistrate court excluded this evidence and found Crystal guilty of contempt for undertaking the preliminary, administrative act of enrolling D.C. in that school without Bradley's prior approval. Tr. 98:25-99:25.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL:

- 1. Whether there was substantial and competent evidence to support a conclusion that Bradley made a reasonable request for out of state travel which Crystal unreasonably refused.
- 2. Whether the magistrate court lacked jurisdiction to enter a judgment of contempt based on a finding that Bradley had made plans for D.C. to fly to Mississippi when the Charging Affidavit alleged that Crystal refused Bradley's request to allow D.C. to travel with Bradley's wife, and when the undisputed evidence shows that Bradley's wife was travelling by car.
- 3. Whether the magistrate court lacked jurisdiction to enter a judgment of contempt based on the magistrate court's reliance on a 2004 Agreement, which was not cited in the Charging Affidavit, to resolve a conflict that the magistrate court found to exist between the Parenting Plan, which was cited in the Charging Affidavit, and a Supplemental Order, which was not cited in the Charging Affidavit.
- 4. Whether the magistrate court lacked jurisdiction to enter a judgment of contempt based on ambiguous order(s) or decree(s).

- 5. Whether the presiding judge of the magistrate court was improperly influenced by passion and prejudice when sentencing Crystal to contempt for denying Bradley's request for out of state travel.
- 6. Whether the magistrate court lacked jurisdiction to find Crystal guilty of contempt for enrolling D.C. in a school where the Parenting Plan requires only mutual agreement as to which school D.C. will attend.
- 7. Whether the magistrate court improperly excluded relevant evidence speaking to the issue of whether the parties reached an agreement regarding which school D.C. would attend.
- 8. Whether Bradley proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Crystal willfully violated the Parenting Plan by causing D.C. to attend Pepper Ridge school over Bradley's objections.
 - 9. Whether the award of attorney's fees entered against Crystal was in error.

III. ATTORNEYS FEES ON APPEAL

Crystal seeks attorney's fees on this appeal pursuant to paragraph 17 of the Parenting Plan, Idaho Code Section 7-610, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 83(x) and Idaho Appellate Rule 41.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Where the Supreme Court is asked to review a decision of the district court sitting in its appellate capacity, the "Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings." *Looser v. Badstreet*, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008). Then, as a matter of procedure, the Supreme Court affirms or reverses the decision of the District Court. *Id.*

As the reviewing court, the Supreme Court "exercises free review over questions of law." *Barrett v. Barrett*, 149 Idaho 21, 23, 232 P.3d 799, 801 (2010). Questions of fact are left to the sound discretion of the trial court and will be upheld if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *State v. Doe*, 149 Idaho 353, 356, 233 P.3d 1275, 1278 (2010). Where the burden of proof at trial is clear and convincing evidence, the "substantial and competent" threshold required to uphold the trial court's findings of fact requires a "greater quantum of evidence" than that required where the burden of proof is by preponderance of the evidence. *In re. Doe*, 143 Idaho 188, 191, 141 P.3d 1057, 1060 (2006) (quoting *In Interest of Bush*, 113 Idaho 873, 876, 749 P.2d 492, 495 (1988)).

V. ARGUMENT

There are several reasons why both counts of the judgment of contempt entered against Crystal should be reversed. The judgment of contempt entered against Crystal for refusing Bradley's request to allow D.C. to travel to Mississippi should be reversed because (i) there was insufficient evidence establishing that Bradley made a reasonable travel request; (ii) the judgment ultimately entered by the magistrate court did not rely on either the facts or the legal theory pled in the Charging Affidavit, and (iii) the legal authority upon which the magistrate court did rely in the judgment of contempt—in addition to having not been pled—was too ambiguous to support a judgment of contempt. The judgment of contempt entered on the school enrollment issue should be reversed because (i) the parties' Parenting Plan does not expressly prohibit undertaking the preliminary, ministerial act of enrolling a child in school; (ii) the magistrate court committed reversible error by excluding all evidence that Bradley ratified Crystal's act of enrollment by agreeing to allow the child to attend Pepper Ridge, and (iii) Bradley failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Crystal willfully violated the Parenting

Plan by causing D.C. to attend a particular school over Bradley's objection. As to both counts, any of the bases stated above is sufficient to overturn the magistrate court's judgment of contempt. Because the magistrate court erred in a multitude of ways in entering the judgment of contempt, Crystal respectfully request that this Court reverse the decision of the District Court and enter an order setting aside the judgment of contempt on both counts.

- A. The judgment of contempt entered against Crystal for not allowing D.C. to travel to Mississippi should be reversed because it was based on insufficient evidence, did not reflect the factual or legal theories set forth in the Charging Affidavit, and relied on the magistrate court's resolution of ambiguous orders and decrees.
 - 1. The magistrate court's decision is not supported by substantial and competent evidence proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Crystal violated Paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan.

The judgment of contempt should be vacated because Bradley failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Crystal violated paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan. "To impose a sanction in a case involving criminal contempt, the trial court must find all of the elements of contempt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Steiner v. Gilbert*, 144 Idaho 240, 246, 159 P.3d 877, 883 (2007) (citing *Hicks v. Feiock*, 485 U.S. 624, (1988)). Paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan provides:

We shall not remove our child/ren from the state of Idaho without advance agreement of both of us. We shall include the date we shall return our child/ren to Idaho in our written agreement.

R. 000043. The only conduct prohibited by this section is removing the child from the state without prior approval of the other parent. Crystal did not engage in this conduct. Accordingly, she did not violate paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that an implied duty of reasonableness and/or good faith and fair dealing attaches and places upon Crystal the affirmative duty to not unreasonably withhold consent, the necessary correlation to such implied duty is that the requesting parent, Bradley, has

to first show that he presented reasonable travel arrangements, which Crystal then unreasonably refused. There is no evidence that Bradley presented to Crystal reasonable travel arrangements, as his alleged proposal lacked any specificity regarding the duration of the proposed trip and the specific dates of the pass time frame in which Bradley would be allowed to visit D.C. Tr. 60:9-14. Bradley also did not present evidence that he requested for Crystal to allow D.C. to fly Mississippi. *See, generally,* Tr. Rather, the facts set forth in the Charging Affidavit were that Bradley requested only that D.C. be allowed to travel to Mississippi with Bradley's wife. R. 000126. And, the only evidence in the record is that Bradley's wife was going to travel by car with her two other children. Tr. 44:12-19.

Conversely, Crystal put on substantial evidence regarding why she reasonably, and in good faith, denied Bradley's request for D.C. to drive to Mississippi with Bradley's wife. The undisputed evidence shows Bradley gave Crystal only two-day's notice before D.C. was to leave the state. Tr. 29:24–30:5; 45:6–13. At the time the request was made, it was so non-specific that it did not include any details regarding the duration of the trip or when D.C. would be returned. Tr. 33:8–12; 88:22-99:9. Crystal testified that, based on the information available to her at the time the request was made, she believed D.C. would be gone from a few days to a couple of weeks if he went to Mississippi.² Tr. 9:19–25. Crystal testified that she had concerns about D.C. missing school. Tr. 9:19–10:9. Crystal also testified that she was concerned about interstate custody issues based on a recent incident with Bradley's wife that required police intervention:

Q (By Mr. Breen): Okay. Are there other reasons why you were hesitant to let D.C. go out of the state of Idaho?

² Given that the plan presented to Crystal was for D.C. to travel with Bradley's wife, and Bradley's wife's plan was to drive, it was entirely reasonable for Crystal to believe that D.C. would be gone a minimum of 8-10 days: four days for visitation with Bradley, and two to three days driving, each direction.

A (By Crystal): Yes, August 26th, 2010, I allowed Shaun Carr to have Brad's visitation while he was out in the field doing army training, and she would not return him back to me at 9 o'clock, when I was supposed to get him back.

My mother-in-law was helping with the transportation. And when I called the house and her cell phone and my mother-in-law and everybody, she would not answer. I passed her en route. I ended up calling the cops. I feared interstate custody issues if he were to go out of state with her.

Q. And the police were called?

A. Yes, sir.

Tr. 10:10-25.

Bradley had the burden to put on evidence that he made a reasonable request that Crystal unreasonably refused; he failed to meet this burden. Because the only evidence in the record demonstrates that Crystal had several reasonable, good faith bases upon which she denied Bradley's request for the child to travel to Mississippi with Bradley's wife, Bradley failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Crystal willfully violated Paragraph 15 of the Parenting Plan by unreasonably withholding her consent to Bradley's request. Because there is insufficient evidentiary support for the charge of contempt set forth in the Charging Affidavit, the judgment should be vacated.

2. The judgment entered is void because the Charging Affidavit failed to allege with particularity the specific factual and legal charges upon which Crystal was found guilty of contempt, thereby failing to confer upon the magistrate court jurisdiction to enter such judgment.

Because there was insufficient support for the charge of contempt set forth in the Charging Affidavit, the magistrate court entered a judgment of contempt on legal and factual grounds that were not set forth in the Charging Affidavit. When a judgment of contempt does not fairly meet the factual allegations or legal theories set forth in the Charging Affidavit, a litigant may challenge the magistrate's jurisdiction to have entered such judgment. Whether

termed a challenge for failure to show jurisdiction or failure to charge an offense, this type of challenge may be raised by a litigant at any time during the proceedings—including for the first time on appeal. *State v. Luke*, 134 Idaho 294, 300, 1 P.3d 795, 801 (2000) (citing I.C.R. 12(b)(2)). *See also State v. Jones*, 140 Idaho 755, 758, 101 P.3d 699, 703 (2004) (noting that failure to show jurisdiction and failure to charge an offense are sometimes a distinction without meaning because an alleged failure to charge an offense can be jurisdictional error).

A Charging Affidavit for non-summary contempt proceedings must set forth, with particularity, the precise facts and legal theories that form the basis of the contempt charges. *Bandelin v. Quinlan*, 94 Idaho 858, 861, 499 P.2d 557, 560 (1972). "Since contempt proceedings are quasi-criminal in nature, no intendments or presumptions may be indulged in to aid the sufficiency of the affidavit." *Id.* at 860, 499 P.2d at 559. (string citation omitted). "If an affidavit is presented which fails to recite *on its face* the *substantive facts* which constitute, or might constitute, a contempt on the part of the accused, the court is without jurisdiction." *Id.* (string citation omitted). "Where the affidavit fails to allege all essential material facts such a deficiency cannot be cured by proof supplied at the hearing or by judicial notice of the court's own records." *Id.*

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