# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-3-2013

# Carr v. Pridgen Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40883

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 183 P.3d 758 (2008), the Supreme Court "does not review the decision of the magistrate court...'[r]ather, we are procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decision of the district court." Pelayo v. Pelayo, 154 Idaho 855, 303 P.3d 214, (2013) quoting State v. Korn, 148 Idaho 413, 415 n.1, 224 P.3d 480, 482, n. 1 (2009).

Losser provides the specific standard of review applicable to this case:

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure.

Id., 145 Idaho at 672, 183 P.3d at 760 (2008).

Crystal's appeal involves a contempt sanction. The standard under which the Supreme Court reviews contempt sanctions was given in *State v. Rice*, 145 Idaho 554, 556, 181 P.3d 480, 482 (2008):

"The sanction or penalty imposed under a contempt order is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. The determination of whether a sanction or penalty should be imposed is within the discretion of the trial court. This Court does not weigh the evidence, but rather reviews the district court's findings to determine [whether] they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. Evidence is regarded as substantial if a reasonable trier of fact would accept it

and rely upon it in determining whether a disputed point of fact has been proven. When the trial court exercises its discretion, this Court will not interfere unless the lower court clearly abused its discretion . . . ."

*Rice, supra,* quoting *In re Weick,* 142 Idaho 275, 278, 127 P.3d 178, 181 (2005) (internal citations omitted).

In any consideration of whether an abuse of discretion has occurred, this Court considers whether (1) the court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Lee v. Nickerson*, 146 Idaho 5, 9, 189 P.3d 467, 471 (2008).

In the present matter, the decision of the trial court is supported by uncontradicted evidence as to the salient facts, the conclusions of law were soundly based on those facts, and the sentences imposed were well within statutory allowances. The District Court properly so found and should be affirmed.

## II. CRYSTAL FAILED TO PROPERLY RAISE HER JURISDICTIONAL CLAIMS TO THE TRIAL COURT AND THOSE CLAIMS HAVE NO MERIT

The District Court found that Crystal failed to raise her jurisdictional claims to the trial court. She now, again, asserts those jurisdictional claims, which are essentially that the trial

court "lacked jurisdiction" to enter the contempt findings, based on alleged defects in the charging affidavit.<sup>1</sup> She has waived those claims, and they have no merit in any event.<sup>2</sup>

### A. Crystal Waived Her "Jurisdictional" Claims.

The District Court found:

"... Crystal's assertion that the '[t]he magistrate court did not have jurisdiction to enter the judgment of contempt [as to Count III] because neither the facts nor the legal theory upon which the judgment was entered were set forth with particularity in the Charging Affidavit (Appellant's Brief, at 12),' is a due process objection to the charging affidavit and, as such, was waived by her failure to assert this objection before the magistrate. See Whittle v. Seehusen, 113 Idaho 852, 856, 748 P.2d 1382, 1386 (Ct. App. 1987)..."

Memorandum Decision and Order, February 22, 2013, at p. 17 (R. p. 272). The district court did note that Crystal's attorney had included boiler-plate "affirmative defenses" in a general "Acknowledgment of Rights and Notice of Not guilty Plea and Asserting Affirmative Defenses" document filed August 9, 2011. R. p. 149. But that document only asserts generic defenses as "possible basis for defending against this action" [sic], and only states ". . . the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over the Defendant." *Id.* No argument was made at trial, or in any pre- or post-trial motion, to raise a specific defenses which Crystal argues on appeal.

In this further appeal, Crystal alleges essentially the same deficiencies in the original charging affidavit or in the evidence. Her language has changed slightly, but the underlying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See, e.g., Appellant's Brief filed July 17, 2013, at pp. 8-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Crystal does not appear to assert in this appeal any error in the District Court's decision that she waived her due process claims by failing to raise them to the trial court. Respondent nevertheless will discuss why the District Court's decision was proper on that point.

claims are the same as those presented to the district court.<sup>3</sup> These are due process objections to the charging affidavit which were not presented or argued to the trial court; the district court committed no abuse of discretion in holding they cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

### B. Crystal's Jurisdictional Claims Are Without Merit.

As the District Court found, Crystal did not raise her due process challenges to the charging affidavit properly before the trial court and cannot raise those issues for the first time on appeal. *Taylor v. Herbold*, 94 Idaho 133, 483 P.2d 664 (1971). In addition, however, the District Court also recognized that even if Crystal's claims were to be regarded as asserting that the charging document failed to allege an offense at all, (which argument is "never waived"), the result would be the same. R. p. 272-273 (*Memorandum Decision* at n. 17).

The District Court was clear that Crystal's arguments were in the nature of due process objections, as to the factual specificity and legal theories on which she was convicted, as compared to the charging affidavit. *Id.* Such is also the case before this Court. Crystal claims before this Court she had insufficient notice of the facts or law constituting the violations she was convicted of,<sup>4</sup> yet she was able to "put up a vigorous defense to the contempt charges . . ." as the District Court observed. *Id.* She also claims she was convicted on a legal theory so materially different from the charging affidavit that the charging affidavit failed to confer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Crystal now states the judgment is "void" due to defects in the charging affidavit; she claims it fails to allege "specific factual and legal charges upon which [she] was found guilty. . ." thereby prejudicing her ability to present a defense, and that she was convicted on "legal theories" which were different from what was set forth in the charging affidavit. Appellant's Brief at p. 10-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Appellant's Brief Section V(A)(2)(a).

jurisdiction,<sup>5</sup> yet "... she was aware that the key question as to Count III concerned whether she "unreasonably denied permission... [for visitation]" as the District Court points out. *Id.*, at n. 19; R. p. 273. As to the "school enrollment" issue, (Count I) Crystal continues to claim a distinction between "enrollment" and "attendance" as a basis for a lack of jurisdiction, but she didn't argue this distinction to the trial court. *See, Memorandum Decision*, n. 21, R. p. 276.

But the District Court also properly found that, even if Crystal's arguments constituted a claim that the charging affidavit failed completely to charge any offense, that claim would also be without merit. The District Court cites *State v. Jones*, 140 Idaho 755, 759, 101 P.3d 699, 703 (2004) to note that:

When an objection to the information was not timely raised before trial...the sufficiency of the charging document will 'be upheld unless it is so defective that it does not, by any fair or reasonable construction, charge an offense for which the defendant is convicted.' [citation] 'A reviewing court has considerable leeway to imply the necessary allegations from the language of the Information.'

Id., quoting State v. Robran, 119 Idaho 285, 287, 805 P.2d 491, 493 (Ct. App. 1991).

Here, the actions by Crystal, and the Orders which those actions violate, as alleged by the charging affidavit, were <u>admitted</u> by Crystal at trial. She <u>admitted</u> unilaterally enrolling the parties' son in a new elementary school when she knew Brad had objected and wanted their son to attend a different school. The Charging Affidavit of Brad Carr (R. p. 125) states this as a violation of paragraph 9 of the parenting plan incorporated into the May 15, 2006 Court Order. R. p. 41. At trial Crystal <u>admitted</u> refusing Brad's request for a brief last

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Appellant's Brief Section V(A)(2)(b).

visitation with his son before his year-long deployment to combat in the Iraq war. The charging affidavit set forth the behavior she admitted to, and her personal knowledge of the orders such behavior violated. If there were any "defects" in the charging affidavit, the trial court properly construed them in favor of the validity of the charging affidavit, in compliance with Idaho law, and the District Court properly so found. "[D]efects which are tardily challenged are liberally construed in favor of validity." R. p. 272, Memorandum Decision, n. 17, quoting State v. Jones, supra., 140 Idaho at 759, 101 P.3d at 703.

# III. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED FOR THE CONTEMPT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The sentences imposed in this matter were well within the trial court's discretion. As the Court stated in *State v. Jones, supra*,:

"A sentence within the statutory limits will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. *State v. Hedger*, 115 Idaho 598, 604, 768 P.2d 1331, 1337 (1989). The sentencing court will not be found to have abused its discretion unless the 'sentence was excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.' *State v. Brown*, 121 Idaho 385, 393, 825 P.2d 482, 490 (1992) (quoting *State v. Broadhead*, 120 Idaho 141, 145, 814 P.2d 401, 405 (1991))."

Id., 140 Idaho at 759, 101 P.3d at 703. Here, the trial court "did undertake a reasoned analysis of the evidence presented," as the District Court observed. R. p. 267. A trial court is not required to be gullible — forming judgments about the parties is at the heart of a judge's purpose at trial, as the District Court also observed. R. p. 269, n. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Crystal continues to urge a distinction between a parent's unilateral school "enrollment" of a child, and the later "attendance" at that school, to suggest that only the latter (which wasn't specifically alleged, but did occur) would be a violation of joint custody. The District Court called this "specious, at best." R. p. 276, n. 21. The evidence was uncontradicted that Crystal did both (enrolled the child and took him to the school) without Brad's permission.

The trial court here had before an essentially uncontradicted factual record, and a joint custody parenting plan. At trial, essentially, Crystal admitted the behavior she was accused of, but sought to justify her actions by making what the trial court felt were unpersuasive arguments in mitigation. She claimed, among other things, that her refusal to allow a last visit prior to Brad's deployment was "reasonable" because their child (in the second grade) might miss school and the travel plans weren't clear. To the trial court, this was not reasonable, in part because of the trial court's personal experience with family disruptions inherent in military service. It is not evidence of error for a trial court to make reference to evidence admitted at trial in the sentencing process. *State v. Leavitt*, 121 Idaho 4, 9, 822 P.2d 523, 528 (1991).

In addition, Crystal argued that, while she was aware of Brad's objection to the enrollment at Pepperidge, she was permitted to take their son there because (as she now argues) her "preliminary, administrative act of enrollment" did not violate any terms of the court order, and, once enrolled there, she "continued to try to work with Bradley, through their respective attorneys, to obtain . . . approval..." *Appellant's Brief*, at p. 24-25. Both the trial court, and District Court, viewed these as irrelevant arguments which completely missed the point of joint custody, as set forth in the parties' custody orders. The trial court's reasoned that Crystal's claimed justifications were intended to disguise actions taken in bad faith, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The trial court repeatedly sustained relevance objections to Crystal's efforts to introduce evidence of her attorney "working with" opposing counsel. *See, e.g.*, Tr. p. 26, l. 3-p. 29, l. 23; *c.f.*, Rule 408, I.R.E.

concluded that a brief period of incarceration was reasonable under the circumstances, to impress on her the seriousness of her actions in denying visitation. Tr. p. 106-108. His sentencing decisions were not the result of any passion or prejudice, but "merely a normal prediposition that may arise in the course of a case." *Bach v. Bagley*, 148 Idaho 784, 791, 229 P.3d 1146, 1153 (2010), *citing Liteky v. U.S.*, 510 U.S. 540, 550-52, 114 S. Ct. 1147, 1154-56, 127 L. Ed.2d 474, 487-89 (1994). Moreover, "[t]here is nothing improper about [the] judge ... examining the record and course of [defendant's] conduct to determine his credibility." *In re Weick*, 142 Idaho 275, 284, 127 P. 3d 178, 187 (2005).

# IV. BRAD IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEYS FEES FOR DEFENSE OF THIS APPEAL

# A. <u>Idaho Code Section 7-610 Should Be, and Has Been, Interpreted to Apparently Allow an Award of Attorneys Fees on Appeal.</u>

This is a contempt action. Idaho Code Section 7-610 provides that "... the court in its discretion may award attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party." Brad was the prevailing party on appeal to the District Court, and this appeal raises the same issues as were presented below. Brad admittedly does not seek review by cross-appeal of the District Court's denial of fees on the intermediate appeal. However, he should be allowed his fees in this further appeal, and should not be foreclosed from seeking fees at this time by the lack of cross-appeal of the District Court's decision. *See*, Rule 15(a), Idaho Appellate Rules.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Mr. Herndon's withdrawal from this case by substitution of counsel on July 10, 2013, for health reasons, occurred well after the time for cross-appeal had expired in late April, 2013, pursuant to Rule 15(b), I.A.R.

Recent authority (released since the decision of the District Court in this case) suggests that an interpretation of Idaho Code Section 7-610 which only allows recovery to a prevailing party at the trial court level in contempt proceedings may be flawed. In the case of *Bald, Fat & Ugly, LLC v. Keane*, 154 Idaho 807, 303 P.3d 166 (2013), this Court had before it a contempt proceeding, in which both parties made requests for attorneys fees. The Court notes that fees on appeal, though requested, were not awardable because neither party properly cited Idaho Code Section 7-610 as a statutory basis for their claims.

Brad submits that the District Court's narrow view was not sound in view of this Court's later authority, and he should be granted his legal fees and costs if he prevails in this appeal.

# B. <u>Idaho Code Section 12-121 Also Provides a Basis for an Award to Brad in this</u> Case.

The present appeal by Crystal merely invites the Court to second-guess the factual determinations properly made below, and raises no cogent legal argument for the reversal of the District Court. The arguments by Crystal in this appeal merely re-state the arguments which were dispatched by the District Court. Crystal also fails to even address the District Court's ruling that she failed to properly raise most of her issues to the trial court initially and was foreclosed from making the arguments which she now restates to this court.

Idaho Code Section 12–121 permits the award of attorneys fees to the prevailing party if the court determines the case was brought, pursued or defended frivolously, unreasonably or without foundation. *Commercial Ventures, Inc. v. Rex M. & Lynn Lea Family Trust,* 145

Idaho 208, 177 P.3d 955 (2008). While it's true that, under Idaho Code § 12–121, the entire course of the litigation must be taken into account, that standard on appeal refers to the appeal itself, and not the necessarily the entire proceeding below:

In this case, Bertha is the prevailing party and we find that Pedro has pursued this appeal frivolously and without foundation. He has merely retreaded arguments made without success below. We are asked to second-guess decisions that were properly made by the magistrate judge and upheld by the district judge. Accordingly, Bertha is entitled to attorney fees under I.C. § 12–121.

Pelayo v. Pelayo, 154 Idaho 855, 303 P.3d 214, 225 (2013).

### **CONCLUSION**

The District Court should be affirmed and Brad should be allowed his reasonable attorneys fees and costs.